
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
Meeting: Planning Committee 

Date and Time: Wednesday 8 September 2021 7.00 pm 

Place: Council Chamber 

Telephone Enquiries 
to: 

Committee Services 
Committeeservices@hart.gov.uk 

Members: Ambler, Blewett, Cockarill, Delaney, Kennett, 
Oliver (Chairman), Quarterman, Radley, Southern, 
Wheale and Worlock 

 

Joint Chief Executive CIVIC OFFICES, HARLINGTON WAY 
FLEET, HAMPSHIRE GU51 4AE 

 

AGENDA 
 
This Agenda and associated appendices are provided in electronic form only and 

are published on the Hart District Council Website. 
 

Please download all papers through the Modern.Gov app before the meeting. 
 

 At the start of the meeting, the Lead Officer will confirm the Fire Evacuation 
Procedure. 
 

 The Chairman will announce that this meeting will be recorded and that 
anyone remaining at the meeting has provided their consent to any such 
recording.  

 
1 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 3 - 5) 
 
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 August 2021 to be confirmed and signed 

as a correct record.  
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 To receive any apologies for absence from Members*. 
 
*Note: Members are asked to email Committee Services in advance of the 
meeting as soon as they become aware they will be absent. 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To declare disclosable pecuniary, and any other, interests*. 

 
*Note: Members are asked to email Committee Services in advance of the 
meeting as soon as they become aware they may have an interest to declare. 
 

4 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
5 DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS  (Pages 6 - 11) 
 
 To consider the planning reports from the Head of Place, and to accept updates 

via the Addendum. 
 

6 21/01253/HOU - 13 BRAMLING AVENUE, YATELEY GU46 6NX  (Pages 12 - 
20) 

 
7 21/00378/FUL - THE BELL INN, 36 FROGMORE ROAD, BLACKWATER, 

CAMBERLEY GU17 0NP  (Pages 21 - 48) 
 
 
Date of Publication:  Tuesday, 31 August 2021 
 
 

Page 2



 

 
PL 24 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Date and Time: Wednesday 11 August 2021 at 7.00 pm 

Place: Council Chamber 

Present:  

Ambler, Blewett, Cockarill, Delaney, Kennett, Oliver (Chairman), Quarterman, 
Radley, Southern and Worlock 
 
In attendance:   
 
Officers:  
 
Mark Jaggard  Head of Place 
Emma Whittaker Development Management & Building Control Manager 
Stephanie Baker  Interim Development Management & Building Control 
Peter Lee  Planning Team Leader 
Miguel Martinez  Principal Planner Officer 
Fehintola Otudeko  Shared Legal Services 
Lee Rome  Committee Services Officer 
 

28 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2021 were confirmed and signed as 
a correct record. 
 

29 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
No apologies had been received. 
 

30 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None 
 

31 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman announced that the new National Planning Policy Framework had 
been published by the government. 
 
The Planning Committee Working Party will be meeting on 28th September to 
discuss the management improvement plan and all available members are 
welcome to attend. 
 
Emma Whittaker, Development Management & Building Control Manager 
is leaving Hart after more than a decade of service. The Chairman thanked her 
on behalf of Councillors, the Committee and the Council. Thanks were also 
passed on from Hook Parish Council and Infrastructure Committee. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 
PL 25 

 

Stephanie Baker will become Interim Development Management & Building 
Control Manager. The post is being advertised externally and the interview 
process is expected to begin soon. 
 

32 DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS  
 
The planning reports from the Head of Place were considered and the updates 
via the Addendum were accepted. 
 

33 21/00777/OUT - CROWNFIELDS ODIHAM  
 
Erection of 60 bed care home and 30 dwellings (10 x 2 bed houses, 12 x 3 bed 
houses, 4 x 4+ bed houses and 4 x 2 bed flats) with associated parking and 
pedestrian and vehicular access. 
 
Members considered the application and discussed the following: 
 

 The visual impact of the development. 

 The position of the Parish Council regarding the application. 

 Concerns around sewage and the North Warnborough pumping station. 

 Contribution to the S106. 

 Car parking provision to the local preschool. 

 The ongoing maintenance agreement. 

 The position of Natural England in respect to the development. 

 Amending the recommendation to include the Planning Ward Member and 
the Chairman in the final decision process. 

 
DECISION – GRANT as per officer recommendation A, incorporating the 
updates via the Addendum, subject to an amendment to the recommendation 
that the Head of Place consult with the Chairman of the Planning Committee and 
the Planning Ward Member before planning permission is granted. 
 
Notes: Mr Hamish Watson spoke for the application. 
Cllr Angela McFarlane (on behalf of Odiham Parish Council) spoke against the 
application. 
 

34 21/01145/FUL - YATELEY HALL, FIRGROVE ROAD, YATELEY GU46 6HJ  
 
Change of use from an office (Land Use Class E – formerly B1a) to a school 
(Land Use Class F1 – formerly D1), cycle storage and associated new hard 
landscaping in parking areas. 
 
Members considered the application and discussed the following: 

 The 'Ha-ha' at the site and site boundaries. 

 Previous use of the site as a school. 

 The lack of interest from other developers for the site, and the suitability of 
the current proposal. 

 Current parking allocation and future parking requirements. 

Page 4



 
PL 26 

 

 Traffic implications and the Highways Agency position. 

 Transport methods used by pupils attending the school.  

 Current student numbers at the present school site and possible growth of 
pupil numbers. 

 The level of noise impact on the local area from the school. 

 The Grade II listing of the building and its implications for controls over future 
development. 

 The nature of local objections and support for the proposals. 
 
DECISION – GRANT as per officer recommendation, subject to planning 
conditions and incorporating the updates via the Addendum. 
 
Notes: Mr Tom Rumble spoke for the application. 
Mrs Helen Whelan spoke against the application. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 8.28 pm 
 
 

Page 5



 1 

 

HEAD OF PLACE 
REPORT TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE OF 

2021 

 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
This agenda considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local Planning 
Authority, for determination 

 
2. STATUS OF OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND COMMITTEE'S 

DECISIONS  
All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this agenda are understood to be 
correct at the time of preparation, which is approximately two weeks in advance of the 
Committee meeting. Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been prepared 
before the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment. Where a recommendation 
is either altered or substantially amended between preparing the report and the Committee 
meeting or where additional information has been received, a separate “Planning Addendum” 
paper will be circulated at the meeting to assist Councillors. This paper will be available to 
members of the public.  

 
3. THE DEBATE AT THE MEETING 
The Chairman of the Committee will introduce the item to be discussed. A Planning Officer will 
then give a short presentation and, if applicable, public speaking will take place (see below). 
The Committee will then debate the application with the starting point being the officer 
recommendation.  
 

4. SITE VISITS 
A Panel of Members visits some sites on the day before the Committee meeting. This can be 
useful to assess the effect of the proposal on matters that are not clear from the plans or from 
the report. The Panel does not discuss the application or receive representations although 
applicants and Town/Parish Councils are advised of the arrangements. These are not public 
meetings. A summary of what was viewed is given on the Planning Addendum. 
 

5. THE COUNCIL’S APPROACH TO THE DETERMINATION OF PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS 

When considering development proposals, the Council will take a positive approach that reflects 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  
 
It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals 
can be approved wherever possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, 
social and environmental conditions in the area. This means that any discussions with 
applicants and developers at both pre-application and application stage will be positively framed 
as both parties work together to find solutions to problems.  This does not necessarily mean that 
development that is unacceptable in principle or which causes harm to an interest of 
acknowledged importance, will be allowed. 
 
The development plan is the starting point for decision making.  Proposals that accord with the 
development plan will be approved without delay. Development that conflicts with the 
development plan will be refused unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



 2 

 
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date the 
Council will seek to grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking 
into account whether: 

 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Local Plan taken as a 
whole; or 

 Specific policies in the development plan indicate that development should be 
restricted. 

 
Unsatisfactory applications will however, be refused without discussion where: 

 The proposal is unacceptable in principle and there are no clear material 
considerations that indicate otherwise; or 

 A completely new design would be needed to overcome objections; or 
 Clear pre-application advice has been given, but the applicant has not followed that 

advice; or 
 No pre-application advice has been sought. 

 

6. PLANNING POLICY 
The relevant development plans are:    
 

 Hart Local Plan (Strategy and Sites) 2032, adopted April 2020  
 Saved Policies from the Hart Local Plan (Replacement) 1996-2006 (updated 1st May 

2020)  
 Policy NRM6 (Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area) of the South East Plan 

(adopted May 2009)  
 Hampshire, Portsmouth, Southampton, New Forest National Park and South Downs 

National Park Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013  
 ‘Made’ Neighbourhood Plans for the following Parishes: Crondall; Crookham Village; 

Dogmersfield; Fleet; Hartley Wintney; Hook; Odiham and North Warnborough; 
Rotherwick; Winchfield. 

 

Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant policies 
taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.  
 
 

7. THE NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK AND PLANNING 
PRACTICE GUIDANCE 

Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be taken into 
account in deciding planning applications. Where such statements indicate the weight that 
should be given to relevant considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them. 
 
The Government has also published the Planning Practice Guidance which provides information 
on a number of topic areas. Again, these comments, where applicable, are a material 
consideration which need to be given due weight. 

 
8. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  
Material planning considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the purpose of planning legislation, which is to regulate the development and use of 
land in the public interest. Relevant considerations will vary from circumstance to circumstance 
and from application to application.  
 
Within or in the settings of Conservation Areas or where development affects a listed building or 

Page 7



 3 

its setting there are a number of statutory tests that must be given great weight in the decision 
making process. In no case does this prevent development rather than particular emphasis 
should be given to the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
The Council will base its decisions on planning applications on planning grounds alone.  It will 
not use its planning powers to secure objectives achievable under non-planning legislation, 
such as the Building Regulations or the Water Industries Act. The grant of planning permission 
does not remove the need for any other consents, nor does it imply that such consents will 
necessarily be forthcoming. 
 
Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction work  property maintenance issues 
 need for development (save in certain 

defined circumstances) 
 the identity or personal characteristics of the 

applicant 
 ownership of land or rights of way  moral objections to development like public 

houses or betting shops 
 change to previous scheme  competition between firms, 
 or matters that are dealt with by other legislation, such as the Building Regulations (e.g. 

structural safety, fire risks, means of escape in the event of fire etc.). - The fact that a 
development may conflict with other legislation is not a reason to refuse planning 
permission or defer a decision. It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure compliance 
with all relevant legislation. 

 
The Council will base its decisions on planning applications on planning grounds alone. It will 
not use its planning powers to secure objectives achievable under non-planning legislation, 
such as the Building Regulations or the Water Industries Act.  The grant of planning permission 
does not remove the need for any other consents, nor does it imply that such consents will 
necessarily be forthcoming.   
 

9. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  
When used properly, conditions can enhance the quality of development and enable 
development proposals to proceed where it would otherwise have been necessary to refuse 
planning permission, by mitigating the adverse effects of the development. Planning conditions 
should only be imposed where they are: 
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning and; 
 to the development to be permitted; 
 enforceable; 
 precise and; 
 reasonable in all other respects. 
 
It may be possible to overcome a planning objection to a development proposal equally well by 
imposing a condition on the planning permission or by entering into a planning obligation. In 
such cases the Council will use a condition rather than seeking to deal with the matter by means 
of a planning obligation.  
 
Planning obligations mitigate the impact of unacceptable development to make it acceptable in 
planning terms. Obligations should meet the tests that they are:  

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,  
 directly related to the development, and  
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind.  

These tests are set out as statutory tests in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 

Page 8



 4 

2010. There are also legal restrictions as to the number of planning obligations that can provide 
funds towards a particular item of infrastructure. 
 

10. PLANNING APPEALS  
If an application for planning permission is refused by the Council, or if it is granted with 
conditions, an appeal can be made to the Secretary of State against the decision, or the 
conditions. Reasons for refusal must be: 

 Complete,  
 Precise,  
 Specific 
 Relevant to the application, and 
 Supported by substantiated evidence. 

 
The Council is at risk of an award of costs against it if it behaves “unreasonably” with respect to 
the substance of the matter under appeal, for example, by unreasonably refusing or failing to 
determine planning applications, or by unreasonably defending appeals. Examples of this 
include: 

 Preventing or delaying development which should clearly be permitted, having regard to 
its accordance with the development plan, national policy and any other material 
considerations. 

 Failure to produce evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on appeal. 
 Vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impact, which are 

unsupported by any objective analysis. 
 Refusing planning permission on a planning ground capable of being dealt with by 

conditions risks an award of costs, where it is concluded that suitable conditions would 
enable the proposed development to go ahead. 

 Acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law 
 Persisting in objections to a scheme or elements of a scheme which the Secretary of 

State or an Inspector has previously indicated to be acceptable. 
 Not determining similar cases in a consistent manner 
 Failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme that is the subject of an extant 

or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances. 

 Refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that should 
already have been considered at the outline stage. 

 Imposing a condition that is not necessary, relevant to planning and to the development 
to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects, and thus does 
not comply with the guidance in the NPPF on planning conditions and obligations. 

 Requiring that the appellant enter into a planning obligation which does not accord with 
the law or relevant national policy in the NPPF, on planning conditions and obligations. 

 Refusing to enter into pre-application discussions, or to provide reasonably requested 
information, when a more helpful approach would probably have resulted in either the 
appeal being avoided altogether, or the issues to be considered being narrowed, thus 
reducing the expense associated with the appeal. 

 Not reviewing their case promptly following the lodging of an appeal against refusal of 
planning permission (or non-determination), or an application to remove or vary one or 
more conditions, as part of sensible on-going case management. 

 If the local planning authority grants planning permission on an identical application 
where the evidence base is unchanged and the scheme has not been amended in any 
way, they run the risk of a full award of costs for an abortive appeal which is 
subsequently withdrawn. 
 

Statutory consultees (and this includes Parish Council’s) play an important role in the planning 
system: local authorities often give significant weight to the technical advice of the key statutory 

Page 9



 5 

consultees. Where the Council has relied on the advice of the statutory consultee in refusing an 
application, there is a clear expectation that the consultee in question will substantiate its advice 
at any appeal. Where the statutory consultee is a party to the appeal, they may be liable to an 
award of costs to or against them. 
 
 

11. PROPRIETY 
Members of the Planning Committee are obliged to represent the interests of the whole 
community in planning matters and not simply their individual Wards. When determining 
planning applications, they must take into account planning considerations only. This can 
include views expressed on relevant planning matters. Local opposition or support for a 
proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  
 

12. PRIVATE INTERESTS  
The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person against the 
activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public interest in some 
cases. It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private interests, but this may be 
necessary on occasion. The basic question is not whether owners and occupiers of 
neighbouring properties would experience financial or other loss from a particular development, 
but whether the proposal would unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and 
buildings that ought to be protected in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/ 
protection of private property are therefore not material planning consideration. 
 

13. OTHER LEGISLATION  
Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities or may set 
out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental legislation, or water 
resources legislation). The Council, in exercising its functions, also must have regard to the 
general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  
 The Human Rights Act 1998,  
 The Equality Act 2010.  

 

14. PUBLIC SPEAKING 
The Council has a public speaking scheme, which allows a representative of the relevant Parish 
Council, objectors and applicants to address the Planning Committee. Full details of the scheme 
are on the Council’s website and are sent to all applicants and objectors where the scheme 
applies. Speaking is only available to those who have made representations within the relevant 
period or the applicant. It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the Committee 
meeting itself. 
 
Speakers are limited to a total of three minutes each per item for the Parish Council, those 
speaking against the application and for the applicant/agent. Speakers are not permitted to ask 
questions of others or to join in the debate, although the Committee may ask questions of the 
speaker to clarify representations made or facts after they have spoken. For probity reasons 
associated with advance disclosure of information under the Access to Information Act, nobody 
will be allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.  
 

15. LATE REPRESENTATIONS 
To make sure that all documentation is placed in the public domain and to ensure that the 
Planning Committee, applicants, objectors, and any other party has had a proper opportunity to 
consider further, or new representations no new additional information will be allowed to be 
submitted less than 48 hours before the Committee meeting, except where to correct an error of 
fact in the report. Copies of individual representations will not be circulated to Members. 

Page 10



 6 

 

16. INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 
All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.hart.gov.uk  
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

http://www.hart.gov.uk/


 

 

COMMITTEE REPORT  
ITEM NUMBER: 101 

APPLICATION NO. 21/01253/HOU 

LOCATION 13 Bramling Avenue Yateley Hampshire GU46 6NX   

PROPOSAL Erection of a first floor side extension and single storey rear 
extension. 

APPLICANT Mr Nicholas Grieves 

CONSULTATIONS EXPIRY 10 August 2021 

APPLICATION EXPIRY 6 September 2021 

WARD Yateley West 

RECOMMENDATION Grant 

 
 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 

2000.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.   Please Note:  Map is not 

to scale 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



 

BACKGROUND 
 
Background 
 
The application has been referred to the Council's Planning Committee as Councillor 
Harwood is the agent.   
 
The Site 
 
The application site comprises the residential property of 13 Bramling Avenue, a two-storey 
detached house of a typical modern estates' appearance. It has an open frontage 
accommodating 2 driveway parking spaces, and an integral garage.   
 
The site is within a residential area of Yateley and the property was built at the same time as 
neighbouring properties. It is not within a conservation area, not subject to Article 4 directions 
restricting development, and not within the setting of any listed buildings. 
 
There are no protected trees on or close to the site. It is within Flood Zone 1 and a Causal 
Flood Area. 
 
The property history suggests that the permitted development rights for the property are not 
restricted by earlier planning approvals. 
 
Proposals 
 
First floor front / side extension and single storey rear extension. Canopy to existing porch. 
 
The first floor extension would be positioned over the integral single garage, effectively 
infilling the area between the previous first floor extension (approved under 90/19824/FUL), 
and the original property.  It would be 2.8m wide and 4m deep, with a gable ended roof and a 
ridge height of 6.7m.   
 
The rear extension would be 3.7m wide, 4m deep and 2.9m high.  It would be flat roofed and 
feature a roof lantern. 
 
The porch canopy would provide a pitched roof to the existing front part of the garage, the 
downstairs WC and the porch. 
 
Materials would match the external appearance of the host property. 
 
The original house was constructed as a 3 bedroomed dwelling and a fourth bedroom was 
added in the early 1990s.  The current proposal would retain 4 bedrooms; the room shown 
as a study and to be converted to an en-suite was originally a third bedroom. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
10/00915/EXT : Application t extend the life of planning permission 07/00759/FUL for 
Erection of first floor side extension and erection of front porch.  Granted 10.06.2010 
07/00759/FUL : Erection of first floor side extension and erection of front porch. Granted 
14.06.2007 
90/19824/FUL : First Floor extension to dwelling. Granted 18.09.1990 
66/04693/H4: Erection of 291 dwellings on approximately 25.5 acres (10.32 HA) of land 
between Firgrove Road and School Lane. Granted 12.12.1966 

Page 13



 

69/04693/H13 : Erection of 74 houses and garages (formerly plots 238 to 311 Firgrove 
Estate Yateley). Granted 19.11.1969. 
 
CONSULTEES RESPONSES 
 
 

Yateley Town Council 
 
OBJECTION  
 
Members felt that the parking plan is unworkable. 

 
 

Ecology Consult (Internal) 
 
The property appears to be a modern (approx 1970's) detached dwelling in sub-urban location. 
The nearest woodland is approximately 180m away adjacent to Yateley Green, although this is 
separated by the residential dwellings. The property has hanging tiles on the front elevation, a 
small area of these will be impacted by the proposed new porch 'roof', but these are likely well-
lit by the nearby streetlamp reducing suitability for bats.  
 
I have reviewed the submitted Bat Statement which states there are 'no visible entrance holes 
or evidence of nesting or roosting within the roof void'.  
 
Considering the property age, location and impact of the proposed works, I do not believe 
formal bat survey is required for this application. However, I would advise a precautionary 
approach to bats. If permission is granted, and a bat is subsequently discovered, works should 
stop immediately, and Natural England be contacted. Further survey and / or licensing may be 
required for the works to proceed.  
 
On the above basis, I have no objection to this application on the grounds of biodiversity. 

 
 

NEIGHBOUR COMMENTS 
 
No neighbour representations were received. 
 
POLICY AND DETERMINING ISSUES 

  
PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
The development plan for the site and relevant development plan policies are as follows:   
 
Hart Local Plan (Strategy and Sites) 2032 (HLP32): 
 
• SD1 Sustainable Development 
• NBE4 Biodiversity  
• NBE5 Managing Flood Risk   
• NBE9 Design 
• INF3 Transport 
 
Saved Policies from the Hart Local Plan (Replacement) 1996-2006 (HLP06): 
 
• GEN1 General Policy for Development 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) informs that: An emerging neighbourhood plan is 
likely to be a material consideration in many cases.    
 

Page 14



 

The emerging Yateley, Darby Green & Frogmore Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2032 contains 
the following policies relevant to the proposal:   
 
• Policy YDFNP1 - Delivering Sustainable Development   
• Policy YDFNP2 - Limiting Climate Change  
• Policy YDFNP3 - Promoting Biodiversity  
• Policy YDFNP4 - Design Principles in New Development  
• Policy YDFNP9  - Flood Risk  
 
The following guidance has also informed the LPAs assessment: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021):  
 
• Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development   
• Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places  
• Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
• Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
• Hart District Council Parking Provision Interim Guidance (PPIG, 2008) 
• Hart Planning Technical Advice Note - Privacy, Daylight and Sunlight: The 45 and 25 
Degree Guideline 
• Hart District Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, December 2016 
• The Urban Characterisation and Density Study for Hart 
• Hart's Climate Change Action Plan  
• Hart's Equality Objectives for 2021 - 2023  
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
The main planning considerations are:  
 
• Principle of development 
• Design and character of the area 
• Residential amenity 
• Highway safety and parking 
• Biodiversity impacts 
• Flooding and drainage 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is located within the urban settlement boundary of Yateley; it is therefore considered 
that the principle of development is acceptable, subject to compliance with relevant 
development plan policies and that no unacceptable harm to residential amenity, the 
environment, highway safety or any other material planning considerations arise.    
 
Design and character of the area 
 
Policy NBE9 of the HLP32 and saved policy GEN1 of the HLP06 seek to ensure that 
developments will be permitted where they are in keeping with local character by virtue of 
their design, scale, massing, height and prominence of the proposal is in character with the 
local area.  
 
The aspects of policy YDFNP4 of the  emerging Yateley, Darby Green & Frogmore 
Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2032 which are relevant to the proposal supports development 

Page 15



 

which respects surrounding buildings in terms of scale, height, form and massing, and 
adopts contextually appropriate materials and details.   
 
The proposal would add additional bulk to the property at first floor, increasing the volume of 
the already extended house.  By virtue of the set down of the ridge line however, it would 
maintain a subservient appearance to the main house.  The design and materials would 
match the existing property, respecting the appearance of the host, and of neighbouring 
properties.  The porch canopy would be visually in-keeping.  Overall, the alterations to the 
front of the property are considered acceptable in terms of design. 
 
It is a material consideration that a first floor front / side extension and works to the porch 
were approved under 07/00759/FUL and 10/00915/EXT.  There are minor differences 
between the approved and proposed schemes: there is an increase in the ridge height from 
6.4m to 6.7m, a change from hipped roof end to gable, and a change in the porch canopy 
design, from hipped to straight edged.  
 
While the Development Plan has been revised since those decisions were made, the policy 
changes and minor alterations do not constitute a material change to the acceptability of the 
scheme.   
 
The rear extension would be within the size limits for a single storey rear extension under 
permitted development allowances.  It is a material consideration that the rear extension 
could be constructed without the need for express planning permission.  Notwithstanding, by 
virtue of its dimensions and position, the rear extension would be considered an acceptable 
form of development in design terms, and would not significantly reduce the open space 
about the site, ensuring that in combination, the separate aspects of the proposal would not 
result in over-development and would achieve a high quality design and positively contribute 
to the overall appearance of the local area. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Saved policy GEN1 permits development subject to the proposal not materially detracting 
from the amenities of adjoining dwellings by virtue of its siting and massing or loss of privacy.   
 
By virtue of the orientation of nos. 11 and 13 Bramling Avenue  to each other, the front 
extension would meet the existing first floor extension at a distance of 3.7m from the closest 
part of no.11.  The application site angles away from no.11 so the further from the property, 
the less the impact.  There would be a gradual increase in distance from the side boundary, 
of approximately 0.8m to 1.7m, along the length of the extension, mitigating the effect of the 
extension on the residents of no.11. 
 
Weight is given to the 2007 approval, which was recommended for refusal by the case officer 
on the basis of overshadowing and harm to outlook to no.11.  This recommendation was 
overturned at the Planning Committee following a Member’s site visit.   
 
The spatial relationship between nos 11 and 13 has not changed since the 2007 decision.  
The alterations to the roof form would not be anticipated to result in a greater amenity impact 
than the previous scheme.  The depth of the extension and distance to the boundary (albeit 
increasing) would have the potential to result in some loss of outlook.  Overshadowing 
impacts would be mitigated by the orientation of the extension to no.11 (it would be to the 
north), and the existing spatial relationship.  Given these matters, which are lent weight by 
the 2007 decision, and with the benefit of an officer site visit, it is considered that the amenity 
impacts arising from the front extension would not be so significant as to warrant refusal of 
the proposal. 

Page 16



 

 
The rear extension would be positioned 0.9m from the shared boundary with no.15 Bramling 
Avenue.  By virtue of the depth of the extension, the structure would breach the 45 degree 
line for overshadowing, however the impact would be mitigated by the flat roof form. 
 
It is a material consideration that the extension would be within the size limits for single 
storey rear extensions to detached dwellings that could be constructed as permitted 
development.  The rear extension would not be anticipated to result in unacceptable 
overshadowing.  There would be no overlooking or loss of outlook impacts resulting from the 
extension. 
 
On balance, the proposal would not be considered to result in neighbour amenity impacts 
significant enough to warrant refusal of the scheme.  To ensure that the development does 
not given rise to unacceptable overlooking impacts in future, a condition restricting the 
creation of openings in the first floor side elevation of the extension is appropriate. 
 
Highway Safety and Parking 
 
Policy NBE9 of the HLP32 supports development which includes sufficient well-designed 
facilities / areas for parking.  Policy INF3 supports development which provides appropriate 
parking provision, in terms of design and layout.  Draft Yateley Neighbourhood Plan policy 
YDFNP4 supports development which provides adequate cycle and vehicle parking in 
accordance with the latest adopted HDC standards. 
 
The Hart District Council Parking Provision Interim Guidance (PPIG) identifies the site as 
being located in Zone 2.  The proposal would not lead to a net increase in the number of 
bedrooms so the current parking arrangements are considered satisfactory.  These consist of 
a single garage which is long enough to accommodate cycle storage, and two open spaces 
at the front of the house, which is all laid to hardstanding.   
 
Yateley Town Council has concerns that the parking plan is unworkable, however given the 
lack of front boundary treatments and the extent of hardstanding, two cars can be 
accommodated at the front of the house, albeit at different angles to the proposed parking 
arrangement. 
 
The proposal development is therefore acceptable in terms of parking and highway safety. 
 
Biodiversity impacts 
 
HLP32 Policy NBE4 informs that all development proposals will be expected to avoid 
negative impacts on existing biodiversity and provide a net gain where possible. Draft Policy 
YDFNP3 of the Yateley Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals should 
demonstrate a net gain in biodiversity appropriate to the scale of the development and in line 
with any statutory requirements. 
 
The application was supported by a non-ecologist bat assessment which confirmed the 
absence of bat activity.  The Council's Ecologist raised no objection, confirming that a formal 
bat survey is not required but advising that if a bat is discovered, works should stop 
immediately, and Natural England be contacted.  
 
On the basis of the Ecologist's comments, the LPA can be reasonably assured that the 
works would not result in loss of biodiversity.  An informative will be added to the decision in 
the event that permission is granted, regarding biodiversity gain. 
   

Page 17



 

Flooding and drainage 
 
HLP32 Policy NBE5 permits development which over its lifetime would not increase the risk 
of flooding elsewhere and will be safe from flooding.  Draft Policy YDFNP3 of the Yateley 
Neighbourhood Plan supports development which avoids increasing the risk of flooding from 
any source and will be safe from flooding for the lifetime of the development. 
 
The site is entirely within Flood Zone 1, which includes land having a less than 1 in 1,000 
annual probability (0.1% Annual Exceedance Probability) of river flooding.   
 
The Hart District Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment identifies Yateley as one of the 
top four urban areas at risk of surface water flooding in Hart and accordingly, it has been 
identified as a Causal Flood Area (CFA). In CFAs, stricter management of surface water 
runoff is to be applied.  A pro-forma which is to be completed for developments in CFAs 
provides options to developers for indicating how surface water betterment techniques will be 
incorporated into their scheme. 
 
The proposal is not anticipated to have a significant impact on surface water runoff, however 
in the absence of a completed pro-forma indicating how surface water runoff betterment will 
be achieved with the development, an informative will be added to the decision in the event 
that permission is granted, to advise the applicant that such measures are required. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Climate Change 
 
The proposal will have no direct impact on Climate Change issues. 
 
Equalities 
 
The proposal will have no direct impact on equalities issues. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
 
Applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 38(6) and NPPF paras. 2 and 47). 
 
The proposal meets the policy requirements of the Development Plan for Hart, is acceptable 
in terms of all other material considerations and is recommended for conditional approval. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Grant 
 
CONDITIONS 
 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  

 Reason: 
 To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Page 18



 

following plans and documents:  
  

 o  Existing and proposed plans and elevations, dated June 2021 

 o  Proposed block plan received 26 Aug 2021 

 o  Design and access statement, dated June 2021 
  

 Reason:  
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

 and particulars. 
 
 3 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour, texture and bond, those on 
the existing building, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  

 Reason: 
 To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new development with the existing 

building and to satisfy saved policy GEN1 of the Hart District Local Plan. 
 
 4 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning General 

Development (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting this Order with or without modification) no additional openings shall be 
created in the side first floor elevation of the extension hereby permitted, without the 
prior written authority of the LPA. 

  

 Reason:   
In the interest of the privacy of the occupiers of the adjoining properties and to satisfy 
saved policy GEN1 of the Hart District Local Plan. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 The Council works positively and proactively on development proposals to deliver 

sustainable development in accordance with the NPPF. In this instance: The applicant 
was advised of the necessary information needed to process the application and, 
once received, the application was acceptable and no further engagement with the 
applicant was required. 

 
 2 You may require Building Regulations Consent and we advise that you should contact 

Building Control on 01252 398715. 
 
 3 The applicant is advised to make sure that the works hereby approved are carried out 

with due care and consideration to the amenities of adjacent properties and users of 
any nearby public highway or other rights of way.  It is good practice to ensure that 
works audible at the boundary of the site are limited to be carried out between 8am 
and 6pm Monday to Friday, 8am and 12 noon on Saturdays with no working on 
Sunday and Bank Holidays.  The storage of materials and parking of operatives 
vehicles should be normally arranged on site. 

 
 4 As the approved works would be built close to or on the common boundary, the 

applicants attention is drawn to the requirements of the Party Wall Act. For further 
information go to www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/partywall 

 

Page 19



 

 5 As the site is within a Causal Flood Area, for which stricter management of surface 
water runoff is advised.  The applicant is encouraged to install surface water runoff 
betterment provisions as part of the development, such as rainwater butts. 

 
 6 Hart District Council has declared a Climate Emergency. This recognises the need to 

take urgent action to reduce both the emissions of the Council's own activities as a 
service provider but also those of the wider district. The applicant is encouraged to 
explore all opportunities for implementing the development approved by this 
permission in a way that minimises impact on climate change. 

 
 7 The applicant is advised that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, bats are a protected species 
and it is illegal to intentionally or recklessly damage, disturb or destroy a bat or its 
habitat. If any evidence of bats is found on site, Natural England must be informed 
and a licence for development obtained from them prior to works continuing. For 
further information go to www.naturalengland.org.uk or contact Natural England (S.E. 
regional office) on 0238 028 6410.The applicant should consider installing bat boxes 
in suitable positions on site to provide roosting opportunities for bats, in the interest of 
biodiversity gain. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



   

 

 

 

COMMITTEE REPORT  
ITEM NUMBER:102  

APPLICATION NO. 21/00378/FUL 

LOCATION The Bell Inn 36 Frogmore Road Blackwater Camberley 
GU17 0NP  

PROPOSAL Construction of a 21-bed dementia care home with 
associated highways works parking and landscaping 
(following demolition of public house and other buildings)  

APPLICANT Barar 

CONSULTATIONS EXPIRY 21 July 2021 

APPLICATION EXPIRY 2 June 2021 

WARD Blackwater And Hawley 

RECOMMENDATION Grant, subject to planning conditions 

 
 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 

2000.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.   Please Note:  Map is not 

to scale 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



   

 

 

BACKGROUND 
 
This planning application is brought to Planning Committee at the discretion of the Head of 
Place. This is in line with Appendix A (1b) of the Council’s Constitution relating to the 
Scheme of Delegation as The Head of Place considers that the application/ notice/ order 
should be considered by Planning Committee. 
 
THE SITE 
 
The site currently accommodates a derelict building known as the Bell Inn Public House.  
The building is single storey and is a brick-built structure with a tiled roof.  The entrance to 
the Public House and car parking area fronts Frogmore Road and a detached building to the 
rear (formerly residential accommodation associated with the Public House).  
 

 
Figure 1 - Application site and surroundings. 

 
The site levels are generally flat, and the plot has an area of appropriately 0.11ha.  The plot 
extends approximately 36 metres from the Frogmore Road boundary to the rear boundary.  
The frontage is open and has a width of approximately 35 metres. The site adjoins residential 
development to the north and the grounds of a community facility (place of worship) to the 
east. 
 

 
Figure 2 - Frogmore Road frontage. 

 
 
 

Page 22



   

 

 

PROPOSAL 
 
Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the site to construct a 21-bed 
dementia care home with associated external works (parking and landscaping).   
  
The proposed building would have an irregular roughly rectangular footprint largely sited in a 
similar position to the buildings proposed for removal. It would comprise two rectangular 
elements, one sited towards the Frogmore Road frontage and one set back from it. The 
same configuration would be proposed in relation to Bell Lane with one element closer to the 
road than the other.  
 

 
Figure 3 - Site plan proposed. 

  
The building would be three storeys in height and the top floor would be set-in from the 
main lower floors of the building. The building would have flat roofs, facing brick at ground 
floor level and vertical timber cladding for the upper floors resulting in a modern design and 
appearance.   
  
Internally the ground floor would predominantly accommodate operational areas for the care 
home with a small number of bedrooms and amenity areas on this floor. The upper floors 
would mainly comprise of bedrooms with a lounge on each level.   
  
Externally, the Frogmore Road frontage would feature servicing/staff parking between soft 
landscape areas.  The frontage along Bell Lane would also feature soft landscaping 
areas together with visitor and ambulance parking. The rear of the site would accommodate 
a modest external amenity area for residents of the care home. 
 

Page 23



   

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
Figure 4 - Southwest, southeast and northeast elevations. 

 
 
 

Page 24



   

 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

07/00519/FUL – Erection of porch on front elevation. Granted, 02.07.2007 

93/22397/S64 – Retention of a single storey timber dwelling. Granted, 03.06.1993 

71/05452/H2 – Extension to lounge bar, cooled cellar and improvement of ladies’ toilet. 

Granted, 03.08.1971 

64/05452/H – Erection of prefabricated building for residential purposes. Granted, 
17.08.1964 

 
CONSULTEES RESPONSES (Summarised unless stated) 
 
Yateley Town Council (in full) 
Objection 
 

 The scale and design are wholly inappropriate, it is out of keeping with surrounding 
properties and the visual impact is of major concern. 

 It is a massive overdevelopment of the site and will be a major intrusion on the visual 
appearance of the village green.  

 Neighbouring applications have been required to scale down their plans to fit in with the 
street scene. 

 The parking needs generated by tradesmen, staff and visitors to the site would have a 
major impact on what is an already difficult parking situation, given the two nearby 
schools. To introduce further traffic in this area would have a detrimental effect on road 
safety. 

 Members are also concerned that some bungalows are being referred to as 1 ½ storey 
houses. These bungalows have had loft conversions fitted with rear facing dormers. The 
ridge height has remained the same and the elevation facing Frogmore Road is 
unchanged, so their impact on this important and sensitive street scene is unchanged. 

 Members are concerned that this application, overall, would increase the adverse impact 
of the proposal in the pre-application that was previously submitted. 

 
Thames Water Property Services 
No objection  
 

 There is sufficient foul water sewerage network infrastructure capacity and surface water 
network infrastructure capacity. 

 These surface water comments are based on discharging 1 l/s into the surface water 
sewer on Frogmore Road to which Thames Water would have no capacity concerns. The 
public foul sewer in Frogmore Road is foul only rather than combined. 
 

Policy (Internal) 
No objection  
 

 The purpose of Policy INF5 is to protect community facilities where they are required and 
viable. In this case both of those tests are in doubt, and there is the obvious benefit of 
redeveloping this brownfield site to help meet a need for specialist accommodation. This 
will reduce pressure on greenfield land for such schemes under Policy H4 Specialist and 
Supported Accommodation. 

 
Tree Officer (Internal) 
No objection, subject to conditions related to: 

Page 25



   

 

 

 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan for the site to cover additional 
elements such as routes of utilities and sewerage, and any other services which will 
need to connect into the site, as well as siting of contractor facilities and areas for the 
storage of materials. 

 
Housing (Internal) 
No comments to make. 
 
Environmental Health (Internal) 
No objection subject to conditions in respect of:  
 

 Construction hours. 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan. 

 No installation external fixed plant/equipment without planning permission. 
 

Ecology Consult (Internal) 
No objection, subject to the recommendations of the ecology reports and enhancement being 
implemented as shown in the submitted plans. 
 

Natural England 
No objection, subject to mitigation being secured as follows: 
 

 The use of the property is restricted to C2 nursing care home. 

 The care home shall not be occupied other than by persons who require high 
dependency dementia care. 

 No residential staff accommodation will be provided on site and rooms will be for single 
occupancy. 

 Car parking will be restricted exclusively to staff and visitors, with no access to the 
general public. 

 A covenant to prevent the keeping of pets on the premises (with the exception of 
assisted living dogs). 

 
Hampshire County Council (Highways) 
No objection. 
 

 A TRICS generation exercise has been undertaken. It shows a combined AM Peak trip of 
11 and PM trip of 9. The Highway Authority would accept these trips. 

 The Highway Authority are happy with the revised plans that have been submitted, 
showing the improvements and changes to the access points, and information regarding 
the distance to the local amenities and the transport network in the vicinity of the site. 

 
Streetcare Officer (Internal) 
No comments to make, as it relates to commercial premises. 
 

Environment Agency Thames Area 
No objection subject to conditions to secure: 
 

 Development in accordance with flood risk assessment submitted. 

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 64.70m above Ordnance Datum (AOD). 

 Installation of non-return valves as flood resilience measures. 
 
 

Page 26



   

 

 

Hampshire County Council (Local Lead Flooding Authority) 
No objection subject to conditions to secure: 
 

 Construction of drainage system in accordance with Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
ref: 5879.  

 Evidence of Thames Water Agreement to connect and discharge rate to their asset. 

 Details of long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water system approved. 
 
NEIGHBOUR COMMENTS 
 
The statutory requirements for publicity in this instance, as set out in The Development 
Management Procedure Order 2015 (as amended) are neighbour letters together with 
either the display of a site notice or a press advert. The Council's Statement 
of Community Involvement has been amended to align with the statutory 
publicity requirements.  
  
The 21-day public consultation expired on 02.04.2021. At the time of writing, twenty public 
representations have been received. Eighteen of these were submitted in objection to the 
proposal and two representations have been submitted in support or being neutral 
representations. The objections are summarised as follows:  
 

 Impacts on on-street car parking, highway safety and traffic generally and particularly 
at pick-up/drop -off times of nearby schools. 

 Insufficient car parking provision.  

 Impacts on adjoining residential and nursery buildings (overlooking). 

 Loss of light, odour nuisance (from cooking and refuse) to adjacent bungalow. 

 Height and design of the building would be out of keeping with adjacent bungalows. 

 Building would look like a dominant school/college. 

 Impact on views of green opposite. 

 A care home is out of character with this area of family dwellings. 

 Impacts on the SPA. 

 Rooms proposed for prospective residents are too small. 

 Surroundings may be better served with a small café/meeting place. 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
1. Planning Policy 
2. Principle of Development 
3. Specialised Accommodation for Older People 
4. Design/Character of the Development and the Area 
5. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
6. Trees/Landscaping/Biodiversity 
7. Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
8. Flooding and Drainage 
9. Access and Parking 
10. Refuse 
11. Climate Change and Equality 
12. Planning Balance 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



   

 

 

1. PLANNING POLICY  
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires 
applications for planning permission to be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
  
The relevant adopted Development Plan for the District includes the Hart Local Plan: 
Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 (HLP32), the saved policies of the Hart District Local Plan 
(Replacement) 1996-2006 (HLP06) and saved policy NRM6 of the South East Plan. Adopted 
and saved policies are up-to-date and consistent with the NPPF (2021).  
  
In terms of Neighbourhood Plans, the Yateley, Darby Green and Frogmore Neighbourhood 
Plan 2020-2032 is not at an advanced stage and is not yet part of the adopted Development 
Plan. However, it is a material consideration as the application site falls within the 
neighbourhood area.   
  
Adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 (HLP32) 
SD1 - Sustainable Development 
SS1 - Spatial Strategy and Distribution of Growth 
H1 – Market Housing 
H4 - Specialist and Supported Accommodation 
NBE3 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
NBE4 - Biodiversity 
NBE5 - Managing Flood Risk 
NBE7 – Sustainable Water Use 
NBE9 - Design  
NBE11 - Pollution 
INF3 - Transport  
INF5 – Community Facilities 
 
Saved policies of the Hart District Local Plan (Replacement) 1996-2006 (HLP 06) 
GEN 1 - General policy for development 
CON 8 - Trees, woodland & hedgerows: Amenity Value 
 
Saved policy of the South East Plan 2009 (SEP) 
NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
 
Draft Yateley, Darby Green and Frogmore Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2032 (YDFNP) 
Policy YDFNP1 - Sustainable Development 
Policy YDFNP2 – Limiting Climate Change 
Policy YDFNP3 – Promoting Biodiversity 
Policy YDFNP4 – Design Principles 
Policy YDFNP9 – Flood Risk 
Policy YDFNP10 – Community Facilities 
Policy YDFNP15 – Promoting Active Travel 
 
Other relevant material considerations 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) 
National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)  
National Design Guide 2021 (NDG)  
Hart, Rushmoor and Surrey Heath Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2014-2032 
(SHMA, 2016)  

Page 28



   

 

 

Hart Parking Provision Interim Guidance (2008)  
Advice on the need for specialised accommodation for older people within Hart District as set 
out in the 2016 SHMA (NSAOP, June 2021) 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017   
Thames Basin Heaths Delivery Framework 2009 (TBHDF) 
BRE Report - Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight: a guide to good practice (2011) 
Hart’s Planning Technical Advice Note – Privacy, Daylight and Sunlight  
 
2. PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The application site is located within the urban settlement boundary of Frogmore as defined 
by the HLP32.  Policy SS1 sets out that development will be focused within the defined 
settlement boundaries as well as on previously developed land. The policy goes on to set out 
the Council’s Housing requirement and indicates that this will in part be delivered through 
development or redevelopment within settlement boundaries. The supporting text makes it 
clear that some of the Council’s housing requirements will be delivered through windfall sites 
such as the application site.   
 
It is worth mentioning that the acceptability of the principle of development, in this case, also 
depends on policy INF5 which seeks provision and improvements of existing community 
facilities. This policy only allows the loss of community facilities in certain circumstances 
where it is demonstrated that: 
 

i. a suitable replacement facility of a similar or improved nature is provided that meets 
the needs of the local population or its current and intended users; or  

ii. the existing premises are no longer required or viable. 
 
Policy INF5 regards local shops and public houses as community facilitates, despite the fact 
that these may be privately owned and operated. The reason being that such facilitates can 
contribute positively to and enhance the quality of community life. In policy terms, this 
proposal would involve the loss of a community use. The public house has not been in 
operation since approximately November 2018.  
  
The applicant submitted a viability and marketing report in support of the application with 
respect of the loss of a public house use on this site. This report concludes that the public 
house was previously able to derive trade almost entirely from the local community but 
acknowledges that the premises do not present the characteristics to be able to reposition 
itself as a destination or food-led venue. The parking provision is too small, equally so are 
the internal trading areas.   
  
The viability and marketing report also acknowledges that the property was brought to the 
market closed, boarded up and with a backdrop of operational and licensing issues and 
concerns, which would be far from an appealing prospect and would present a high degree 
of risk to a potential operator.   
  
It also highlights that re-establishing trade at a pub akin to The Bell would be challenging, 
and even more so given the Covid-19 pandemic and the ongoing impact this is likely to have 
on consumer confidence for at least the short term. The report notes that whilst the 
Government has announced financial support for the sector, these are short term 
measures and in assessing viability a longer-term assessment must be made.   
 

Page 29



   

 

 

 The report confirms that the marketing exercise undertaken resulted in parties attending 
viewing sessions but all those who went on to submit offers were dominated by parties 
looking at the site for other uses and not for continued use as a public house. The report  
advises that they do not consider that this property has a future as a public house due 
to the combination of factors including: the results of the marketing exercise along with the 
licensing and operational issues for the site, trade and profit potential, level of competition in 
the locality (which is considered to be adequately served) and the state of repair of the 
property and the need for investment.  
  
The viability and marketing report was analysed by the Council’s Planning Policy team and 
Policy Officers are satisfied that the report is robust although the marketing exercise 
undertaken fell short of policy expectations. However, the Policy Team acknowledges 
that Yateley Town Council in their comments on this application raise no concerns regarding 
the loss of the public house, and that there would appear to be little or no objection from the 
local community on these grounds either. This would be perhaps attributed to the history of 
anti-social behaviour / licensing issues in the past.   
  
It is also noted that the existing public house on site is not identified/listed as a community 
facility in the emerging YDFNP. On balance they raised no objection as there are doubts the 
public house is required and viable and there is an obvious benefit of redeveloping this 
brownfield site to help meet a need for specialist accommodation.  
  
It should also be noted that the other requirement for the loss of the public house is a 
replacement facility of a similar or improved nature provided that it meets the needs of the 
local population or its current and intended users. The provision of a dementia care home in 
this instance would be a facility that would comply with such a requirement, as there is a 
district wide need of such facilities.     
  
Therefore, the principle of development is acceptable, however the ultimate acceptability of 
the proposal would depend on compliance with all other planning policy objectives.   
 
3. SPECIALISED ACCOMMODATION FOR OLDER PEOPLE  
 
Policy H4 of the HLP32 supports the provision of specialised/supported accommodation that 
meets the needs of older persons or others requiring specialised care on sites within 
settlement boundaries.   
  
The application proposes a 21-bed dementia care home falling within Class C2 use. This 
would contain 21 individual en-suite bedrooms. Communal facilities are limited due to the 
nature of the care which would be provided however the building includes a lounge/servery 
on each floor. There would also be a nursing station on each floor. No staff accommodation 
(bedrooms) would be provided. Staff facilities would include offices, changing areas/lockers 
and a staff room. The care home would be three-storeys with a total area of 1,070sqm Gross 
Internal Area (GIA).   
  
The submission states that the applicant has already approached an operator for complex 
nursing dementia care. The HLP32 defines a care home as a residential setting where a 
number of people live, usually in single rooms, and have access to on-site care services. 
The Planning Practice Guidance defines residential care homes and nursing homes as:  
   

Page 30



   

 

 

“These have individual rooms within a residential building and provide a high level of care 
meeting all activities of daily living. They do not usually include support services for 
independent living. This type of housing can also include dementia care homes.”   
  
The Need for Specialised Accommodation for Older People (NSAOP) assessment (para. 
1.04) provides guidance on categories of specialist housing and accommodation for older 
people, including:   
  
“Residential care. Provides live-in accommodation, typically in en-suite rooms, with 24 hour-
a-day supervised staffing for residents, who may need extra help and support with their 
personal care. For example, help with things such as washing, dressing, personal hygiene, 
medication, toileting, communication, feeding and mobility.   
  
Nursing care. These provide 24-hour care and support, as with residential care, but with 
added nursing care and assistance for residents who require input from and supervision by a 
registered nurse, who is in situ to devise and monitor care plans and provide and administer 
treatment.”   
  
With due regard to the application submission and above definitions, the proposal would 
be for a nursing care home as defined within the PPG and nursing care home as identified in 
the NSAOP. A planning condition has been recommended to secure that the proposed 
nursing care home remains in this use.   
  
The NSAOP provided advice to the Council on the need for specialised accommodation for 
older people within the District to supplement earlier evidence contained within the SHMA. It 
identifies a residual net need (as at June 2021) of 232 nursing care bedspaces to 2035. The 
provision of 21 beds as proposed in the application would contribute to this need as 
supported by HLP32 Policies H1(c) and H4(a).  
 
4. DESIGN/CHARACTER OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE AREA 
 
HLP32 Policy NBE9 and saved policy GEN1 of the HLP06 seek to ensure that development 
achieves a high-quality design and that it would positively contribute to the overall 
character of the area.     
  
The NPPF 2021 (para. 130) also reinforces the need to promote good design in 
developments and states that decisions should ensure that developments will:   
  

- function well and add to the overall quality of the area not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development;  

- are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping;  and   

- are sympathetic to local character …, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities).    

  
The pre-submission YDFNP contains a draft policy (YDFNP4) that supports development 
appropriate to their scale and location, and that responds positively to local identity and 
distinctiveness.  
  
Representations received on the application have raised concerns about the scale and 
architectural design of the proposed development in relation to the site’s context. The 

Page 31



   

 

 

application site forms the north-east corner of the intersection of Frogmore Road and Bell 
Lane. The Frogmore and Darby Green Hall is located opposite the site to the west which 
is adjoined by a green and play area. Therefore, the site benefits from an open and spacious 
aspect to its western side.  
 

  
Figure 5 - Southern view of application site and the Green. 

  
The locality comprises mainly one and two storey 1960’s buildings fronting onto the 
green with some examples of Victorian/Edwardian residential development south of the 
green. There are also examples in the locality of three storey buildings (some shops in Bell 
Road and flatted development in Frogmore Road).  
  
The main body of the building is proposed at two storeys in height with a third floor that 
would feature different set ins from the different elevations of the building, providing a more 
modest footprint at this level. The scale proposed along with the set back of the building from 
the back edge of pavement, its siting and footprint would provide a larger development than 
the existing public house. The proposed building would inevitably look larger than the 
dwellings surrounding it, however this would not be harmful to visual amenity or the character 
of the street scene.  
  
The scale of the proposal has been addressed in a manner so as to avoid an overbearing 
building on this corner location and features a reduced footprint of the third floor and set-back 
of the building frontages which helps to minimise its visual effect on the adjoining roads.  
 

 
Figure 6 – Representation of proposal from the Frogmore Road and Bell Lane intersection. 

Page 32



   

 

 

In terms of design and appearance, the building is proposed with a contemporary character 
and material palette which differs from the housing found in the immediate surroundings. 
This visual difference does not mean that there would be visual harm from the proposal and 
the planning system does not seek to replicate one style of design or building material 
only. The green areas proposed along the two main frontages of the building would 
also positively contribute to its relationship with the public domain.    
  
The introduction of a contemporary building on the site and the locality as a whole 
would result in positive addition to the area in design and amenity terms. The proposed 
design would be acceptable and in compliance with objectives of adopted policies NBE9 of 
the HLP32, saved policy GEN1 of the HLP06 and the aims of the NPPF (2021).  
 
5. IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURING AMENITY 
 
Policy NBE11 supports development that does not give rise to, or would be subject to, 
unacceptable levels of pollution. Saved policy GEN1 supports development that, amongst 
other requirements, causes no material loss of amenity to adjacent properties.  
 
Paragraph 130 of the NPPF 2021 advises that planning decisions should ensure that 
developments achieve a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and also do 
not undermine quality of life for communities. The sole residential property immediately 
adjacent to the application site is no.38 Frogmore Road to the north. This neighbouring 
property features a single storey rear extension and a rear roof extension as the loft has 
been converted into habitable accommodation.   
 
The proposed development would result in built form moving closer towards this 
neighbouring property, when compared to the existing situation. The proposed two-storey 
element of the building would be set back 1.32m from the shared boundary with no.38 
Frogmore Road and the depth of the proposed building at this northern end would be 
12.95m.  
 
At the front of the development, the section of the proposed building closer to no.38 
Frogmore Road would project 0.75m further forward than the front elevation of no.38 
Frogmore Road. To the rear, the proposed building would be aligned with the rear elevation 
of the neighbouring bungalow’s extension. Therefore, no material overbearing impacts would 
result. 
 

                    

Page 33



   

 

 

 

  
 
 

 
Figure 7 - Views of no. 38 Frogmore Road. 

 
 
The third floor of the proposed building would be 7.72m away from the shared boundary with 
no.38 Frogmore Road. 
 

Page 34



   

 

 

Figure 8 - Relationship between proposal and no.38 Frogmore Road. 

 
With regards to daylight and sunlight, windows serving the habitable rooms of no.38 
Frogmore Road are located in the front and rear elevations of this property. The proposed 
two-storey section of the development would also respect the 45° line drawn from the centre 
of the window in the rear roof extension of no.38 Frogmore Road.   
 
Therefore, because of the siting and alignment of the two-storey section of the proposed 
development with no.38, no material reduction to the daylight/sunlight into the rear windows 
of this neighbouring dwelling should result. It is noted there is a ground floor window in the 
flank elevation of this bungalow located towards the eastern end of the elevation (rear) and a 
small narrow obscured glazed window in the gable wall of the property, both facing towards 
the application site. 
 
The ground floor window in the flank elevation serves an open kitchen dining area and the 
light received by this window would be affected by the proposed development. However, this 
open kitchen/dining area receives daylight from two sets of double patio doors in the rear 
elevation, which provide a good source of light of these open plan spaces. It is also noted 
that the application proposes to remove a couple of trees that are in close proximity to the 
shared boundary with no.38 and its rear elevation, which currently also affect light received 
by the rear openings.   
 
In terms of overlooking/loss of privacy, the flank elevation of the proposed development that 
would be directly facing the flank wall of no.38 would only feature one first floor window 
serving a corridor and therefore it would be obscured glazed.  Upper floor windows in the 
rear elevation of the development would achieve oblique views of the rear garden of no.38, 
however this is not unusual between existing dwellings in the locality and as such no material 
impacts would be anticipated. The rear garden of this adjoining property therefore would 
remain largely unaffected by the proposed development due to its siting in relation to the 
proposed development.   
 

- St Barnabas Church  
 
This existing development is sited east from the application site at an approximate distance 
of 30m from the shared boundary, therefore, no impacts are anticipated. Representations 

Page 35



   

 

 

received raised concerns about overlooking of the grounds as it appears that there is an 
independent pre-school/nursery that operates in the church and make use of the garden 
located between the church and the application site.  
 
 

 
 

 
Figure 9 - Relationship between proposal and St Barnabas Church. 

 
 

Page 36



   

 

 

The rear of the proposed building would have upper floor windows facing the grounds of the 
church; however, it would not be considered detrimental to the operation of the nursery in 
any way. Additionally, there are also mature trees both within the site, and also within the 
church grounds, that provide partial screening between them.  
 

- Other surrounding properties 
 

Other surrounding properties, on the opposite site of Bell Lane, would be over 30m away 
from the flank elevation of the proposed building. There are also off site TPO’d trees 
adjoining the southern boundary of the site, and the frontage of these dwellings along Bell 
Lane also features mature trees. Therefore, no material impacts are anticipated to their 
residential amenity.   
 
Given the above analysis, the proposal would not create any adverse impacts on residential 
amenity that would amount to being detrimental to the living conditions of occupiers of 
surrounding dwellings. As such, the proposal would be in compliance with policy NBE9 the 
adopted HLP32, saved policy GEN1 of the HLP06, and the NPPF in this regard. 
 
6. TREES/LANDSCAPING/BIODIVERSITY 
 
With regards to trees/ landscaping, Saved policy CON8 states that where development is 
proposed which would affect trees, woodlands or hedgerows of significant landscape or 
amenity value planning permission will only be granted if these features are shown to be 
capable of being retained in the longer term or if removal is necessary new planting is 
undertaken to maintain the value of these features. planning conditions may be imposed to 
require the planting of new trees or hedgerows to replace those lost. 
 
There are off-site TPO’d trees adjoining the southern boundary of the site. The proposed 
siting of the building would minimise encroachment onto root protection areas. 
 

 
Figure 10 - View of protected trees adjoining the site along Bell Lane. 

 
The tree protection information submitted was assessed by the Council’s Tree Officer who 
has raised no objection, subject to their strict implementation.  The officer also requested the 
imposition of a revised arboricultural method statement condition in order to cover within this 
document details of routes for utilities and other infrastructure associated with the proposal. 
This is considered reasonable, and a planning condition would be suggested as part of the 
recommendation of this application. 

Page 37



   

 

 

 
The landscaping proposed for the development shows there would be green areas along the 
two frontages of the site that would have planted trees, they would be integrated alongside 
the car parking spaces. There is also a rear garden proposed for residents that would feature 
hedging, and wildflower areas.  
 

 
Figure 11 - Landscape proposal. 

 
With reference to Biodiversity, adopted policy NBE4 (Biodiversity) of the Hart Local Plan 
states 'In order to conserve and enhance biodiversity, new development will be permitted 
provided... 
 
b) It does not result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, including ancient 
woodland and the loss of aged or veteran trees found outside ancient woodland, unless the 
need for, and benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss; 
 
c) opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity and contribute to wildlife and habitat 
connectivity are taken where possible, including the preservation, restoration and re-creation 
of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species 
populations. All development proposals will be expected to avoid negative impacts on 
existing biodiversity and provide a net gain where possible'. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist assessed the preliminary ecological appraisal and bat report 
submitted and is satisfied that the information complies with the objectives of the above 
policy. Therefore, she has recommended conditions to secure mitigation measures proposed 
and biodiversity enhancements.  As such the proposal is policy compliant in these respects. 
 
 
 

Page 38



   

 

 

7. THAMES BASIN HEATHS SPECIAL PROTECTION AREA 
 
The Habitats Regulations 2017 requires Local Planning Authorities (as the Competent 
Authority) to consider the potential impact that a development may have on a European 
Protected Site.  In this case this relates to the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
(TBHSPA). 
 
The TBHSPA is a network of heathland sites which are designated for their ability to provide 
a habitat for the internationally important bird species of woodlark, nightjar and Dartford 
warbler. The area is designated as a result of the Birds Directive and the European Habitats 
Directive and protected in the UK under the provisions set out in the Habitats Regulations. 
These bird species are particularly subject to disturbance from walkers, dog walkers and cat 
predation because they nest on or near the ground. 
 
Planning policy NBE3 of the adopted HLP32 and saved policy NRM6 of the SEP, makes 
clear than when considering development proposals for residential or similar forms of 
development, there is an ‘exclusion zone’ set at 400m linear distance from the TBHSPA 
boundary. Permission will not be granted for development that results in a net increase in 
residential units within this zone unless it can be demonstrated through an Appropriate 
Assessment that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the TBHSPA.  
 
The Thames Basin Heaths Delivery Framework makes clear that the development covered in 
the above restriction relates to net additional dwellings falling within use class C3 and units of 
staff residential accommodation falling within use classes C1(hotels, boarding/guests 
houses) and C2 (care homes/hospitals nursing schools). 
 
The application site falls within the 400m exclusion zone. The dementia nursing care home 
proposed does not contain any staff residential accommodation, all the en-suite rooms are 
for single occupation.  The applicant has stated that the proposed facility would cater for 
residents requiring a complex/high level of nursing care and would not be in a position to 
either visit the SPA on their own or be taken there by relatives.  
 
Natural England was consulted on this matter and has raised no objection subject to 
attaching planning conditions to ensure that the development does not cause an adverse 
effect on the TBHSPA. As such, subject to planning conditions, the development would be in 
compliance with adopted policy NBE3 of the HLP32, saved policy NRM6 of the SEP and the 
Thames Basin Heaths Delivery Framework 2009. 
 
8. FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 
 
Adopted policy NBE5 (Managing Floodrisk) sets out five criteria when development would be 
permitted, in this case the applicable criteria are:    
  

- Over its lifetime it would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and will be safe 
from flooding; 

- If located within an area at risk from any source of flooding, now and in the future, it is 
supported by a site-specific flood risk assessment and complies fully with national 
policy including the sequential and exceptions tests where necessary; 

- Within Causal Areas (as defined in the SFRA) all development takes opportunities to 
reduce the causes and impacts of flooding. 

 
 

Page 39



   

 

 

Flood mapping indicates that the application site the falls within Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3. 
Under the principles of the NPPF 2021, the vacant Public House would have been classified 
as ‘More Vulnerable’. The proposed development therefore would be classified as ‘More 
Vulnerable’. 
 
The development proposal was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and a Sequential 
Test. The reports demonstrate the 1:100 +35% year maximum flood level on site would be 
64.4mAOD. Flood depths on site would be generally very low at under 0.1m. Analysis of the 
modelled flood depths indicate that the majority of flood depths on site would not exceed 
0.06m.  
  
Based on the analysis, the risk of flooding to the site can be considered moderate. However, 
it should be noted that flood depths during the 1:100-year event would remain low (generally 
under 0.1m) and can be mitigated against. The ground floor finished floor level (FFL) for the 
site is to be set no lower than 64.7mAOD, 300mm above the 1:100 year plus 35% climate 
change flood level (64.4mAOD).   
  
Given the proposed use of the site, level access with external ground levels is required. 
Therefore, external ground levels are to be raised around the access points to create a 
shallow ramp for easy access.  
 
The risk of flooding to the site from surface water, groundwater and sewers could be 
considered to be low. To mitigate against the flood risk posed to the proposed development 
site, a number of measures have been recommended to manage the associated risks. 
 
The Environment Agency (EA) was consulted on this application and are satisfied that 
subject to planning conditions the development would be safe from flooding events in the 
future. As such they raise no objection to the proposal subject to planning conditions if this 
proposal is supported by the Council.  
 
Also, the Local Lead Flooding Authority (LLFA) raise no objection to the proposal as 
the submitted technical information advises that surface water runoff from the application 
site would be managed through permeable paving and it would be discharged at a rate of 1.1 
l/s through an existing connection to a combined sewer at Frogmore Road. This drainage 
approach was acceptable to the LLFA.  
 
However, they have requested confirmation that Thames Water would agree to the use of 
their infrastructure for the development to connect and discharge surface water. The 
consultation response from Thames Water confirms they are not raising an objection to 
either the connection or the discharge rate proposed. Therefore, there is no need to condition 
such matters.    
 
The no objection response from the LLFA also requests the imposition of planning conditions 
to secure the proper implementation of the drainage strategy and details of long-term 
maintenance of the drainage system proposed. These are considered reasonable and 
necessary, if the Council is supporting this application, they would be imposed.  
 
Thus, given the above, the proposal subject to this application is acceptable and in 
compliance with objectives of policy NBE5 of the HLP32 and the NPPF 2021. 
 
 
 

Page 40



   

 

 

9. ACCESS AND PARKING 
 
Adopted policy INF3 states that development should promote the use of sustainable 
transport modes prioritising walking and cycling, improve accessibility to services and 
support the transition to a low carbon future.  
 
Saved policy GEN1 supports developments that do not give rise to traffic flows on the 
surrounding road network which would cause material detriment to the amenities of nearby 
properties and settlements or to highway safety.  
 
NPPF 2021 paragraph 111 advises that Development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
In terms of access, it is noted that currently the application site can be accessed via the 
Frogmore Road frontage and there is also a vehicular access via Bell Lane, therefore there 
are no concerns in this regard.  
 
With regards to car parking, the proposal would alter the current car parking arrangement to 
reduce the number of parking bays down to 5 for cars and one servicing bay along the 
Frogmore Road frontage. This would allow the integration of landscaping.  Also, the existing 
vehicular access along Bell Lane would be widened to allow for ambulance access, in 
addition to cars, as there is also a modest car parking area proposed on the southeast corner 
of the site.  
 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has assessed the above physical alterations to safely 
access and accommodate car parking, including visibility spays and has raised no objection 
to them.  
 
With regards to traffic generation, the submitted information demonstrates that the public 
house use would not attract any trips within the morning peak period. In the evening peak 
hour, the public house use could generate 38 total person trips, of which 22 could be 
vehicular trips. Over an average weekday, the public house use could generate 468 two-way 
total person trips, of which 234 could be vehicular. 
 
It is also shown that the proposed development could generate six total person trips in the 
weekday morning peak hour, with five being vehicular trips. In the evening peak hour, the 
development could generate seven total person trips, of which two could be vehicular trips. 
Over an average weekday, the care home could generate 46 two-way total person trips, of 
which 25 could be vehicular. 
 
The LHA has accepted the trip generation assumptions/calculations and has not raised 
concerns in this respect. The applicant also provided the LHA with additional information of 
the locality in terms of distances to local amenities, walking/cycling facilities, bus 
stops/services and other public transport available locally. The LHA is also satisfied with this 
information.  
 
Finally, with regards to car parking, the current Hart maximum standards state that there 
should be provision of 1 space: 2 non-residential full-time employees and 1 visitor space: 4 
clients. The proposal would accommodate 21 beds which would require 5 spaces. The 
information submitted states there would be 12 full time employees, this would also require 6 
spaces.  

Page 41



   

 

 

The proposal makes provision for 12 car parking spaces, which would meet the standards 
adopted by the LPA.  Cycle parking provision is also proposed on site and is acceptable.  
 
On this basis, therefore, the proposed development is in accordance with the objectives of 
policy INF3 of the HLP32, saved policy GEN1 of the HLP06 and paragraph 111 of the NPPF 
2021. 
 
10. REFUSE 
 
The refuse collection would be undertaken by a private company and not by the Council 
which only focus on refuse collection for residential dwellings and flats and not for 
developments such as that one proposed in this application. It is noted that the refuse 
storage is proposed to the rear adjoining the shared boundary with no.38 Frogmore Road.  
 
The location of it adjoining the boundary is not ideal. However, there is scope to remove the 
storage from the shared boundary and propose a buffer between them. This can be the 
subject of a planning condition if the Council supports this application, along with a condition 
for details of refuse management, to ensure that there is no nuisance arising from the final 
location of the storage and the management of refuse. 
 
11. CLIMATE CHANGE AND EQUALITY 
 
On 29.04.2021 Hart District Council agreed a motion which declared a Climate Emergency in 
the Hart District. HLP32 policy NBE9 requires developments to reduce energy consumption 
through sustainable approaches to building design and layout, such as through the use of 
low-impact materials and high energy efficiency also to be resilient and aims to reduce 
energy requirements through carbon reduction and incorporation of energy generating 
technologies, where appropriate.  
 
The applicant has confirmed that the orientation and layout of the care home has been 
designed to work with the site and environment. The building benefits from solar shading 
from trees to the south and west to reduce risk of overheating in summer. 
 
Residents’ lounges have been positioned to avoid tree shade to minimise use of lighting and 
maximise health benefits to residents. The building has generous floor to ceiling heights of 
2.4m and tall windows to maximise daylight to spaces. All stairs and corridors have windows 
and/or rooflights to maximise daylight. 
 
Sustainably sourced timber cladding would be used. The building design has allowed for wall 
and roof thicknesses suitable to meet the latest Part L design standards so that the U-Values 
of the building fabric will meet or exceed Simplified Building Energy Modelling (SBEM) 
calculation requirements. As set out with the SuDS report, rainwater harvesting through the 
use of rainwater butts would be employed. 
 
The applicant has also agreed to incorporate a dual vehicular electric charging point and the 
use of renewable technology.  However due to the shaded nature of the site and the complex 
requirements of the development proposed, they would need to undertake a careful analysis 
of what technology would be best suited to the proposal and have requested this to be 
secured by a planning condition as part of a detailed services strategy. 
 
 
 

Page 42



   

 

 

The client has confirmed their commitment to heating, ventilating and lighting the building in 
a sustainable manner but these needs would be looked at in a holistic way by a services 
engineer to discharge any potential condition if this proposal is supported by the Council.  
 
In terms of Equality, due regard is given to the aims of the general Equality Duty when 
considering applications and reaching planning decisions in particular the aims of eliminating 
unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and fostering good relations 
between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not share it. This 
application would not raise any issue in this regard. 
 
12. PLANNING BALANCE 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications 
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. An important material consideration is subsection 
d) of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, wherein the 'tilted balance' would apply if the adopted 
development plan has no relevant policies or relevant policies are out of date, which is not 
the case here. 
 
It is, nonetheless, important to note the public benefits which would arise from this proposal, 
and these are as follows:  
  

 Social benefits would arise as a result of the provision of a dementia nursing care 
home facility in the District; 
 

 Economic benefits attracted would be employment during the construction of the 
development, from the additional employment generated by the proposal and from the 
additional expenditure in the local economy during construction and following 
occupation.  

  

 Environmental benefits arising would be the re-using an existing PDL site in the 
settlement and the removal of a dilapidated vacant site that does not contribute to the 
character/appearance of the area and its replacement with a contemporary high-
quality development that complies with policy design objectives.     

 
The delivery of housing, including specialist accommodation, is an important social objective 
set out in paragraphs 60-62 of the NPPF 2021. Also, as discussed earlier in this report there 
has been identified a residual net need (as at June 2021) of 232 nursing care bedspaces to 
2035. The provision of 21 beds as proposed in the application would contribute to meeting 
this need. The social benefits arising from this proposal, therefore, are substantial and the 
Council as the decision taker should attribute these benefits significant weight in the 
consideration of this application. 
  
The dis-benefits identified and discussed above are: 
 

 Loss a public house, which is regarded as a community facility; 
 

 Changes to the levels of daylight/sunlight received through a secondary window to the 
ground floor kitchen/dining area of the adjoining property at no.38 Frogmore Road. 

 

Page 43



   

 

 

Whilst the loss of a non-operational public house is a disbenefit in this case, it has been 
demonstrated that the locality is well served by similar facilities and the subject public house 
is not specifically designated as a ‘Community Facility’ in the emerging YDFNP. 
 
With regards to changes to the daylight/sunlight levels to a kitchen window at no.38 
Frogmore Road, it should be noted that the open plan kitchen/dining area relies on the 
primary openings (double patio doors) in the rear elevation and therefore the overall impacts 
to these living spaces would not amount to be detrimental to the living conditions of these 
adjoining occupiers. 
 
 
Hence, the weight attributed to the disbenefits of the scheme are very limited and the 
benefits identified would significantly outweigh them and as such this application is 
recommended for a conditional approval.  
 
CONCLUSION 
 
This application must be determined in accordance with the policies of the development plan 
unless any material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The proposal is acceptable in principle and would introduce a use that would also benefit the 
community and would regenerate a previously developed site within the settlement. The 
proposal would provide a suitable development that would respond satisfactorily to the site 
constraints and the locality as a whole.  
 
The external works propose landscaping and reconfiguration of car parking spaces that 
would contribute positively to the locality. No significant material impacts are anticipated in 
terms of neighbouring amenity, flooding or highways.  
 
In this case the proposed development would comply with the relevant policies of the HLP32, 
saved policies of the HLP06, the NPPF 2021 and policies of the emerging YDFNP, and as 
such a conditional approval is recommended.  
 

RECOMMENDATION – Grant, subject to planning conditions. 
 
CONDITIONS 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 

following plans/documents (including any mitigation/enhancement recommended 
therein):  
  
Plans: 
5098-02 Rev. D (Proposed Site Plan), 5098-03 Rev. E (Proposed Ground Plan), 
5098-04 Rev. B (Proposed First and Second Floor Plans), 5098-05 Rev. A (Frogmore 
Road & Bell Lane Elevations), 5098-06 Rev. C (North East, North West & Bin Store 
Elevations), 5098-15 (Landscape Plan), 5098-16 (swift brick, bird and bat box 

Page 44



   

 

 

locations) and 1489-01 Rev. D (Tree Constraints Plan). 
  

Documents: 
Design, Access and Planning Statement Rev. A produced by Broklehurst  Architects 
(January 2021), Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Issue 1 produced by Bernwood 
Ecology (December 2021), Emergence Survey Report – Bats produced by Chase 
Ecological Consultancy (June 2021), Arboricultural Impact Assessment produced by 
SJ Stephens Associates (February 2021), Landscape and Ecology Management Plan 
produced by  Broklehurst  Architects (June 2021), Flood Risk Statement 5878 v.01 
produced by Ambiental Environmental Associates (January 2021), Surface Water 
Strategy 5879 v.01 produced by Ambiental Environmental Associates (December 
2020), Sequential Test 5880 v.01 produced by Ambiental Environmental Associates 
(December 2020), Highways Technical Notes prepared by Motion (January  and May 
2021),  Community Facilities Assessment report produced by Broklehurst  Architects 
(March 2021) and Planning Viability and Marketing Report prepared by Fleurets (May 
2021). 
  
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and in the interest of proper planning. 

 
3. The development hereby approved shall not commenced until details of a site 

construction environmental management plan are submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall include but not limited to the 
following:  

    
i) Construction worker and visitor parking;  
ii) anticipated number, frequency and size of construction vehicles;  
iii) dust and Noise/Vibration mitigation measures;  
iv) dust suppression measures;  
v) Site security;  
vi) vehicle manoeuvring and turning;  
vii) locations for the loading/unloading and storage of plant, building materials and 
construction debris and contractors offices;  
viii) procedures for on-site contractors to deal with complaints from local residents; 
ix) measures to mitigate impacts on neighbouring highways; and 
x) details of wheel water spraying facilities; 
xi) Protection of pedestrian routes during construction 

  
Such details shall be fully implemented and retained for the duration of the works. 

    
REASON: To protect the amenity of local residents, to ensure adequate highway and 
site safety in accordance with policies NBE11 and INF3 of the adopted Hart Local 
Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 2021. 
 

4. Notwithstanding any information submitted with this application, an Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of development 
(excluding demolition) and shall include but not limited to the following (in addition to 
those already covered in the Arboricultural Statement approved by condition no.2): 
 
 
 

Page 45



   

 

 

i) routes of utilities, sewerage, and any other services;  
ii) siting of contractor facilities; 
iii) areas for the storage of materials;  
 
Such details shall be fully implemented and retained for the duration of the 
construction works. 

    
REASON: To protect Tree Preservation Orders adjacent to the site in accordance with 
policy NBE9 of the adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 saved 
local policies GEN1 and CON8 of the Hart District Local Plan 1996-2006, and the 
NPPF 2021. 
 
 

5. The development hereby approved shall not be raised above slab level until details of 
any kitchen extraction equipment and external plant is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Such details shall be fully implemented, and the plant shall be adequately maintained 
in working order for the life of the development as to meet details approved. 
 
REASON: To protect the amenity of local residents, in accordance with policies 
NBE11 of the adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 
2021. 
 

6. The development hereby approved shall not be raised above slab level until a 
services strategy which shall include the renewable/ low carbon energy technology 
and Electric charging points that would be incorporated in the proposal, is submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Such strategy shall be fully implemented and services maintained in adequate working 
order for the life of the development. 

    
REASON: In the interest to address climate change and in accordance with policy 
NBE9 of the adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 
2021. 
 

7. No development shall raise above slab level, until details of all external materials for 
the building hereby approved are submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details approved shall be fully implemented.  

  
REASON:  To ensure a high-quality external appearance of the buildings and to 
satisfy policy NBE9 of the adopted Hart Local Plan and Sites 2016-2032, saved local 
policy GEN1 of the Hart District Local Plan 1996-2006, and the NPPF 2021. 

 
8. Notwithstanding any information submitted with this application, details of a refuse 

storage removed from the shared boundary with no. 38 Frogmore Road and a refuse 
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to first occupation. The details approved shall be fully implemented 
before the development is firstly occupied and complied with for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
 

Page 46



   

 

 

REASON: In the interest of neighbouring residential amenity and an adequate refuse 
storage/ servicing, in accordance with policies NBE9 and NBE11 of the adopted Hart 
Local Plan and Sites 2016-203, saved local policy GEN1 of the Hart District Local 
Plan 1996-2006 and the NPPF 2021. 

 
9. Details of the long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage 

system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to first occupation. The details shall include: 

 
i) maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and ownership; and  
ii) protection measures.  

 
The details approved shall be fully implemented before the development is firstly 
occupied and complied with for the lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed development would not increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere, be safe from flooding and to satisfy policy NBE5 of the adopted 
Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 2021. 
 

10. The approved parking facilities serving the development hereby approved shall be 
fully completed and made available prior to the first occupation of the building hereby 
approved. These vehicular facilities shall be retained for these purposes thereafter 
and access shall be maintained at all times to allow them to be used as such for staff 
and users of the development. 
  
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate access, parking 
and turning areas in the interest of public highway safety and to satisfy policy INF3 of 
the adopted Hart Local Plan and Sites 2016-2032, saved local policy GEN1 and the 
NPPF 2019. 
 

11. The first-floor side window hereby approved in close proximity to the shared boundary 
with no. 38 Frogmore Road in the north facing flank elevation, shall only contain 
frosted glass (of Pilkington Glass Level 3 or above, or equivalent) and shall thereafter 
be retained as such. 
 
REASON: To protect residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers and to satisfy 
policy NBE9 of the Hart Local Plan (Strategy & Sites) 2016- 2032, saved policy GEN1 
of the Hart District Council Local Plan (Replacement) 1996 – 2006 and the NPPF 
2021. 
 

12. The internal finished ground floor levels of the development hereby approved shall be 
set no lower than 64.70 above Ordnance Datum (AOD) and the development shall be 
provided with non-return valves as flood resilient measures.  

 
REASON: In the interest of preventing internal flooding and to satisfy policy NBE5 of 
the adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 2021.  
 

13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended), or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification, the development hereby approved shall only be 
used as a dementia nursing home within Use Class C2 (Residential Institutions) of the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

Page 47



   

 

 

 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
details submitted and to satisfy a District need, in accordance with policy H1 and H4 of 
the adopted Hart Local Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032 and the NPPF 2021. 
 

14. Notwithstanding any information submitted with this planning application, the 
development hereby approved shall not be internally altered to provide residential staff 
accommodation at any time. 
 
REASON: To ensure the integrity of the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection 
Area is not adversely affected, in accordance with policy NBE3 of the adopted Hart 
Local  Plan - Strategy and Sites 2016-2032, saved policy NRM6 of the South 
East Plan  2009 and the NPPF 2021.  
 

15. No development, demolition work or delivery of materials shall take place at the site 
except between 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours on weekdays or 08:00 to 13:00 hours 
Saturdays. No development, demolition/construction work or deliveries of materials 
shall take place on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
REASON: To protect the residential amenity of adjoining/nearby residential occupiers 
and to satisfy policy NBE11 of the adopted Hart Local Plan and Sites 2016-203, saved 
local policy GEN1 of the Hart District Local Plan 1996-2006 and the NPPF 2021. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The Council works positively and proactively on development proposals to deliver 

sustainable development in accordance with the NPPF. In this instance, the applicant 
was advised of the necessary information needed to process the application, once 
received, further engagement with the applicant was required and the application was 
subsequently acceptable. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS
	6 21/01253/HOU - 13 BRAMLING AVENUE, YATELEY GU46 6NX
	7 21/00378/FUL - THE BELL INN, 36 FROGMORE ROAD, BLACKWATER, CAMBERLEY GU17 0NP

